

EAST AFR. PROT

43558

Governor  
Balfour Conf  
165

1913.

10th November

Last previous Paper.

REMOVAL OF LUMBEA LAIBONE

At a village, Army Boisfo at Kibovrou. Report is that conduct of Laibone is so unsatisfactory that the Administrative office in the District is to release Enclosed evidence. Please see me at Fort Hall. Nairobi and Meru. Suggest it might be consulted. Request's signature. H. J. R.

Big letters  
I enclose a copy of the Removal of Laibone dated 10th Nov.  
The Ex. Com. are unanimous  
of opinion that the removal of the  
Labour is desirable & the Admin.  
consider that there is a clear case.  
I think therefore that we should  
authorise the Govt by tele to  
forward the following paper  
(It seems necessary to omit  
the Annex (see last para))

H. J. R.

22/11/13

Last subsequent paper

10th Nov 1913

The only difficulty

case as that occurring by the  
use of the word "evidence".  
It is of ~~danger~~. But I think  
it is plain that we must stick  
to this point. We shall never get  
Gibby legal evidence to add  
any weight to any of the docu-  
ments.

C6 23/12/13

Mr Harcourt

The Govt are already in a hole,  
and if the sworn statement satisfies him  
we might be in a legal point. What  
then can it clearly be removed  
as proposed.

Mr 23.12.13

I agree

Mr 24.12.13

NET AFRICA PROTECTORATE

CONFIDENTIAL No. 160

A72  
GOVERNMENT HOUSE,  
Mombasa,  
BRITISH EAST AFRICA

19th November 1913.

Sir,

I have the honour to inform you that the Acting Provincial Commissioner, Nyanza Province, has reported that the conduct of the three Lumbwa Laibons, Arap Koileke, Arap Boisio and Kiboygot is so unsatisfactory that any effort on the part of the Administration in that district is rendered quite useless.

2. In support of this contention he has adduced certain evidence, copy of which is attached, from which I think it is clear that matters have reached such a pitch that it will be impossible to carry out any effective administration amongst the Lumbwa so long as these Laibons are allowed to exercise their authority over the tribe.

3. It is an undoubted fact that certain Chiefs of tribes besides being the paramount head are considered to be possessed of certain supernatural powers and in the case of Arap Koileke it is evident that he has been using these

THE RIGHT HONOURABLE

LAWRENCE HANCOCK, P.C., M.P.

SECRETARY OF STATE FOR THE COLONIES

DOWNTON STREET, LONDON, S.W.

these powers to present evidence being brought against him. Some of the offences which have been brought to light would in the ordinary course have warranted prosecution in the Courts but for the very fact of the exercise of his powers of witchcraft whereby the Lumbwa are frightened to give evidence against him it would be impossible to proceed in this manner.

4. I therefore discussed the matter with my Executive Council who were unanimously of the opinion that the conduct of the Laibons was such that their immediate removal was desirable. I fully agreed with this decision but to make the case as complete as possible I thought it advisable to call upon the District Commissioner, Kericho, to furnish a sworn statement of the facts within his personal knowledge. This has now been supplied and I enclose a copy together also with a statement from the Reverend W.R. Hotchkiss of the Lumbwa Industrial Mission, who has been working amongst the tribe for some years. The Attorney General was then asked to furnish a Memorandum expressing his opinion on the case and I fully concur with the conclusion he has arrived at.

5. After a careful perusal of all the evidence and reports from various Offices I have no doubt in my own mind that the proper course for me to adopt is to recommend the removal of the Laibons from their districts and in doing so I would state that as it appears to be the general wish of the community that they should

Sworn Statement  
by Mr Dobbs.

Statement by Rev.  
W.H. Hotchkiss.

Memo. by Attorney  
General.

374  
so I do not anticipate any trouble will ensue if this action is approved.

6. I suggest that the three Labons should be separated when removed and as I do not think it advisable for them to live at the Coast I think it would be best to arrange for them to go to Fort Hall, Nyeri and Mewa where they would of course be put under Administrative supervision.

7. Before giving your decision you may possibly wish to consult Mr Ainsworth, the Provincial Commissioner, Nyanza Province, who is at present on leave but as I am most anxious to have this matter settled in the interests of the Administration and the tribe I should be obliged if you would communicate your instructions by telegram.

I have the honour to be,  
Sir,

Your humble, obedient servant,

H. H. Holme, Esq., M.A.

GOVERNOR.

Dated 16th of 1942

17th December 1942

373

RECORDED IN U.S. MAIL

U.S.

4553

I am forwarding herewith a number of statements to the subject, Abd-el-hamid Hafiz, - the British engineer at Kirbygot. Although the subject is not strictly a case in accordance with the directive No. 241 I submit this case has been made out at least as far as follows: The British, for obvious reasons which to say at present, in order to do their duty to the government, did as they did because they had practically no limits and funds in possibility of action and powers; it is extremely hard to argue otherwise.

2. In September of last year, Abd-el-hamid, a boy of 15 years old, close to Meitche, stole a box containing 1000 rupees from a shopkeeper in Daret. He was arrested, but on the 2nd day he escaped and could not be found. On October 15th of this year, I received a mysterious letter from the British Consul in Aswan, Egypt, saying: that there was a man he wants to arrest in this district, Abd-el-hamid. I would mind his action, especially to arrest this suspect. I replied that he might be here, and on the night of the 10th or 11th, three days ago, he arrested in his mother's house, within Abd-el-hamid's walk or jurisdiction, his mother informed me that he had gone twice or twice in the previous month to get food, but lived in his bush. He informed me that he had been living with the Bedouin in the same village in Aswan.

3. According to the 5th witness, Abd-el-hamid, a boy reading not more than 10 years old, who does not know Arabic, that he has been in the same village with his brother two months, since his brother had been beaten by the English by him, in particular his brother, and he left his brother. This boy was not

and you can imagine one who so loves a story and  
especially if he expects to get information. I saw one day  
John, a Swazilla-Beddo by name, who has been many years in the  
Mission, and known Lumbva thoroughly. When I called  
~~on him at the District Commissioner's house, he stated~~  
~~that he had heard nothing about the case, and he~~  
~~told me exactly the same story.~~ In addition, the character of  
the Dines was shielded by the fact that he was in the  
Reserve. Trap Terence, one of the more enlightened young  
people in Turet, who was Beddo's informant, told me the whole  
story, but I had to get him away by himself, and he said ob-  
viously in fear the Viole time that some eavesdropper would  
bring word to the Lumbva.

Another remarkable feature of the case is that the Indian  
man Dines has not been living in the village since his  
father's disappearance, the authorities having supervised  
the departure of the two Indian brothers, Nam Dini & Yalal.  
Yalal, however, has a shop at Mobebo reading centre, the  
new reading centre at Trap Terence's. During days gone by,  
mysterious packages were sent to Yalal, bearing the local na-  
tives and Beddo men. I could not understand what it all  
meant, but I assumed it to be connected with Yalal's first wife, a Mohamedian  
woman, who it now transpires is one sister to the chief  
Lumbva. Shortly before this or during it I used  
to speak with these Indian brothers to hear no news but  
once every week roughly. I only received them once during  
my tour. I arrived at Mobebo reading centre with a package  
to give to Nam Dini. Much to my surprise, I was informed by the  
other Indian shopkeeper there - Rasi Dini - that the two bro-

thers had left the Reserve, and I was told that they had gone to  
Africa, and that they had never possessed any land in the Reserve.

It is a very difficult task to get the people to leave the Reserve.

It is a very difficult task to get the people to leave the Reserve.

times, Valal Dab had his son's engagement with the girl. It is  
possibly he was afraid that she would get into trouble.

If you will refer to your entries No. 275/864/12 of 25th  
January, 1948, you will find the District Commissioner (Mysore)  
on 2nd of 1948 January, you will see a remarkable statement  
that that the Dabba intends to bring about his own death and  
should find no compensation for this at the time, though it is  
assured that the Dabba as well as the last year the last per  
petrator to him. (See my 188/1/16 of 20th January.) But  
to this, however, I obtained information that the Dabba is  
very ill and gave him the Rambda and Bhaga Reserves, as he  
proposed to take medicine to cure the disease out. From the  
evidence therefore it is correctly obvious that it is not in  
any case, though what compensation obligation is to be made, it  
has not taken.

The Dabba is said to have been in Tumkur and now  
these Umbra Dabba (or Gokhoyat) are reported to be  
Kolleged from Socio. If you refer to G. B. S. 1900  
of the Dabba, introduction, you will find that the  
Orkudat (which see my entries 188/1/16 1948) was held by G. B. S.  
1900, but initially this act of rebellion was made up  
petition of his successors, for it was held before the end of  
all the disturbances that before the tribe. The post of Orkudat  
is only a comparatively recent institution, which was borrowed  
from the Malabar. The District Commissioner, Mysore, who has had  
considerable experience with the Kanti and Lengdi has informed  
me with reference to the case "that the Dabba has such power  
that people's lives would be in danger if they gave justice  
against him and no Lengdi can do anything." With this prop-  
osition, the three representatives who have given statements to me  
one of whom would give some such statement in the  
Lengdi language. They tell me that their people were  
warned before him, and that they could not certainly claim the  
other Lengdi whose names have been given.

In the area of Dabba, there is a blood feud between

I believe the people generally would sympathetically believe that the Filipinos were removed. It probably should have been left to the election committee to determine what action should be taken.

In conclusion, after the DILG has submitted its report, I would suggest that the DILG issue a memorandum to the election committee that the DILG has written to the people as follows--

"I suggest that they (the election committee) do not let the DILG forces hold a rally or give evidence, instead, let the DILG refuse to come and let the DILG's agents speak. Let them talk about their own party and the party's policies and let the DILG people, if they like to, hear them. Let the DILG go in with them, and let them be allowed to say what they want. But it is difficult for us to make strict distinctions between the DILG and other groups of people. And it will not do to put them in one category or another. So let the DILG go in with them, but let them be allowed to say what they want."

18. Regarding the DILG's proposal to have the election committee to vote on whether or not to let the DILG forces hold a rally or give evidence, I think that it is a good idea. I think it is important that the election committee be given the opportunity to decide whether or not to let the DILG forces hold a rally or give evidence.

19. Regarding the election committee, making no reference, except in one sentence, to the DILG's proposal to have the election committee to vote on whether or not to let the DILG forces hold a rally or give evidence, I think that it is a good idea. I think it is important that the election committee be given the opportunity to decide whether or not to let the DILG forces hold a rally or give evidence.

imperative to carry out the finalization of this visit before  
the winter begins there are, particularly new arrivals  
in the region (not to mention the many permafrost  
sites which) are prone to remain at the same  
location for the duration of the year.

Discrete, low to ground.

17

Bediki, Arap Jura, Mohamedan Swahili, Native Agent, duly sworn states:- "I heard from Terongee that Arap Sines went first on his escape to Arap Boisig, the Laibon's brother, who lives in Arap Cherero's sub-division of Arap Cherero's location in Buret. I was told this by Arap Terongee in May. He stopped with Arap Boisig about a month, and I fundi cut off the handcuffs there. He then went to Kericho and took tembo and 3 goats, and brought them to Arap Koileke, the Laibon. He stopped with him two months. He went to his own house at Kericho. All the Manyatta Moran knew about him, but were afraid to say anything, as if a man is informed against, and arrested, and dies in jail, the informant has to pay blood-money to the deceased's relatives. Arap Terongee told me that he was afraid to inform the Government, as the Laibons would bewitch him. He then went to Jelal Din, an Indian who had a shop at the trading camp at Arap Soiti's, and stopped there two days. Jelal Din was married to Arap Sines's sister. He subsequently (Jelal Din) got frightened, and went off to India (N.B. Jelal Din and his brother went off to India at a moment's notice, and absolutely unexpectedly in June. Sd. C. M. D.). It was because of this that there was all the friction between Arap Soiti's son and Jelal Din (There was a lot of mysterious 'fitina' between the local natives at the Trading Centre at Arap Soiti's and Jelal Din in May 1918. Sd. C. M. D.). I heard this just recently from Rajavalli at Noberga, who heard it from another Indian, Ali Mohamed, who has also gone to India. When I was sent to Arap Soiti's to try and find out the reason of the trouble between Jelal Din and the natives, Ali Mohamed told me he had taken an oath and could not say anything against Jelal Din. When I went recently in August to build a bridge at Noberga, Rajavalli said he had heard that Arap Sines had been imprisoned, and quite on his own told me that his brother-in-law, Jelal Din, had run away to

380

to India because of him.

"I was told by a prostitute in Kericho that Arap Since had been seen there, and that there was a mark on his forehead where he had hit his head against a stone when he jumped into the river. I did not believe her words at the time. I don't know what happened to him after he left Selal Din's."

"No one would inform against him for fear of being bewitched by the Laibon. All the Lambwa are in dread of him and of Arap Boisie as well. The reason that Capt. Monckton was informed was because Arap Brizzen, who was of the same tribe as Capt. Monckton's informants, and who was implicated by him (Arap Since) at first, had died. Arap Brizzen was interpreter with Mr. Montgomery when the theft occurred, and was implicated. He was put into prison on remand, and as a result of his incarceration got ill and died, and his relatives said:- 'Why should Arap Brizzen die, who is a Nandi, and Arap Since got off scot-free?' They therefore told the District Commissioner, Nandi. Arap Since at first when arrested said that Arap Brizzen had helped him to steal. I believe he did really, as he did not help to search like the rest."

"Arap Terongee told me that Arap Boisie got Rs. 200/- and the Laibon Rs. 200/- for shielding the thief. I did not report these rumours at first because I felt certain that Arap Terongee would deny every thing when asked by the Government. If a Lambwa stole cattle, and another Lambwa informed against him, and he was arrested and died in jail, the Council of Elders (Kigwino) would make the informer pay blood-money to the relatives of deceased."

"The other day when the Government put a collective fine on the Lambwa on whom Chakura and Arap Somei of Bure, the Laibon made each location pay him Rs. 200/- as well. If the Laibon could be removed out of the country, the natives generally would be very relieved, except the old men who

drink tea with him.

"I have heard to-day from Arap Nyetich (Headman under Chief Arap Terce) a Mission Boy I have sent for to try and get some further information. (Sd. C. M. D.) that the Laibon has put a tax on the whole country in order to make 'dawa' to drive the Europeans out. Arap Kitchwen's people have been told to bring 40 goats and 2 cows as their share, and all the other Chiefs likewise. These animals have been already collected.

"The other day you gave Arap Kitchwen some regard out of the Laibon's salary for helping to get in one of the collective punishments. He handed all the money back to the Laibon as he was afraid of being bewitched if he took any of the money. The reason the Laibon allowed the Manyatta Moran to find all the stolen cattle in his location was because he was being hard pressed by the Government, and as all the cattle were traced in-to his location, he was afraid serious trouble would ensue. So he allowed the Manyatta to find some of the cattle and the thieves; had he not done so, they would not have found them. I have heard also from the Lumbwa that he gives thieves 'dawa' to assist them to steal, and himself takes  $\frac{1}{2}$  of the proceeds. The Lumbwa say these things in their gatherings. All those thieves who were sentenced in March and April were not orphans. They all had fathers and mothers, but hid the fact.

"The reason that the Lumbwa refuse to go out and work is that the Laibon will not let them. He allows them to work on the roads, etc., in their own country and go home at night, but does not allow them to leave their homes for any length of time for regular work, such as agriculture, etc."

*Read over correctly*

Sd. G. H. Babbo  
District Commissioner.

W. 9/ 13

Arap Kitchihi daily when states:-

I am a Government Headman under Chief Arap Torree. I was educated at the Lutien Industrial Mission, and am a Christian. I am acquainted with the three Leibons; they do all they can to work against the Government. Their names are:- Arap Kitchihi, Arap Koileki and Kiboygot.

"A short time ago (eleven days), one of the Leibon's emissaries, Arap Seger, went to Arap Kitchihi's location, and told them to send him a number of goats and cattle, as he wanted to make 'days' to drive the Europeans out. I have a letter from Arap Borgochut telling me about it. Since then the news has come to Arap Tarea, my Chief, to make a like payment. Arap Togos, one of our people who had gone to Arap Kitchihi's, was sent to Arap Torree to the track, and a bazaar was held on Friday, 5th instant, to arrange about collecting the amount. Orders are being sent to Burat and Bottie. Arap Gomire's Tribal Retainer informed me that the collection had begun in his and Arap Segers' locations. Arap Kibirre, tribal Retainer of Terengoo told me this yesterday. Sd. C. M. D. J. This stock will be divided amongst Arap Koileki, the Principal Leibon, and Arap Boileki and Kiboygot, the other junior Leibons. The natives believe that the Leibon can drive the Europeans out. A long time ago, there was a plague of locusts, and the Leibon called for presents and said he would drive them out and they went away. All the natives almost are in great dread of all three Leibons; because they are great witch doctors, and can kill people if they like.

"Some months ago the District Commissioner attached some stock which was found on a European's farm without lease. One of the senior, Arap Malwei, went to Kiboygot, one of the junior Leibons, and gave him a goat and some tembe, and the Leibon brought out his divining stones, and told me that the 'Sorikali' would rotten all the cab-

goods. However five were confiscated and sold. Arap Kiptich told no about this himself.

"Some time ago, the Laibon summoned Chief Arap Beliage to him, and Arap Beliage sent word to say he was old and could not definitely travel hither and thither. A short time later, the Chiefs were called to Kericho to meet Mr. Ainsworth, and the Laibon met Arap Beliage there and asked why he could not go to him a Government bazaar, but could not go to him. Some people then told the Laibon that Arap Beliage had said he was a 'Baluso' (big man), and would not go to the Laibon. Soon after this Arap Beliage got sick, and believing that he had been bewitched by the Laibon, he sent Rs. 25/- and some tambo to him by the hands of Arap Kitchens. However Arap Beliage soon died. (W. B. Arap Kitchens died of bowel obstruction in the middle of February). He had been poor since 11th. Id. C. M. D.) This is the story that was told to me by Arap Beliage's widow.

"Ref. Arap Sime, the man who stole Rs. 4000/- from Mr. Montgomery, there is a man on the Mission Farm called Arap Kiptich, whose daughter is married to a lumberman in Kericho Maryatta called Kibayot, the latter Laibon, in the hope that he would not think that the Maryatta Heren had informed against Arap Sime because the Laibon, Arap Nekeli, had ordered the natives to shield him, and said they would all perish utterly if they gave him up."

The above statement was taken down by me, as Arap Kiptich told it to me on 8/9/18.

S. G. M. 1900

District Commissioner

Copy of letter from Arap Ngötich to Arap Ngötich, their  
own mission youths.

Boeingaria, B. S. A.

August 28th, 1918.

Arap Ngötich

Jambo nana, rafiki yanqu. Tena pili cikakilu neso  
kugikilia inohi yake. Ngaliye nana, kwa sababu hapa iwaytu  
walipata shauri watoku kwa laiboni. Laiboni akasema kuma  
mimi Laiboni. Igwani waahalita (killi?) baba yanqu? Nana  
nyinyi watala wasinga kwenda kwayo, wendani tsilibe kontra  
panoja mbuni olili, tena ngogde alifu 1 kwa watu wa Zalgili.  
Tena watu wa sumt vileville nana abea ya hapa.

Na minni nataku were nikusenya lili kitali, watu wala.  
Na minni atoe mali yag, halidu tworia koma pradiggi atakwetida  
twali. Tena penda pehalo ya watu wafaryia kawena (baraya)  
Lakini hisirius watu. Teni uliwa Arap Ngötich kuma  
twali, yalo 20 na ngopot tida, pesi Arap Ngötich na Mirogu,  
Lakini cikakilu uliwa watu tafadi. Wote sinatu uchungu kwa  
koto, koto, gari abu mili haga nikisi. Nalika nana kwa sababu  
laiboni alidaweyya watu. Ngome uliwa kitali kuma  
sababu weye hatali ya kijua hatali ya hapa. Mwetu  
watu wafaryia abuki 46 na ngombe 2, lakini biddo. Kuma were  
wipata mili hibari Andi'm kitali okale, kwa sababu idid  
bwawaza kumbuka. Amuru lagweni zo chi tulul ho tuluk oien  
jakilwan tanjum edoni.

Translation over.

Greetings, my friend. I want you to listen in your country and keep a look-out, "for" here in our country there is a shauri which has come from the Laibon. The Laibon says "I am the Laibon. Why did they (you?) kill my father? If you want the Europeans to return to their own country, go and look for sheep and goats 4,000 and cattle 1,000 from the people of Belgut. (Belgut is the native name for the Lumbwa Reserve.) And the people of Burat also the same as here." I want you not to say anything among your people but let them pay us the stock and afterwards we will see if the Europeans will really go away. Go to the place where the people are holding the council, but do not worry the people. Ask Arap Kinsoni, if he has to pay 20 goats and cattle also, and Arap Jarme' also and Kiregu, but be careful that you ask them quietly, so that they do not get alarmed, for I am very troubled here because perhaps the Laibon is deceiving the people. Ask the people, because I want to know the amount of the property. Here the people have got 46 goats and 2 cattle, but it is not finished yet. Every piece of news you get, write in a book, so that we can remember it. Calculate out what the total will be if each council pays 2 cattle and - - - (rest indecipherable.)

336

Teronoma. ~~Kosok~~, under Chief Cherero, Masai, duly informed, states - If people know that I have told you about this matter the people will kill me, as they wanted to do before. Before Arap Sings stole this money, he went to the Laibon to get "medicine" to make him invisible. After his escape from the river he met Chohidul who was then Chief in Setik, and saw him with the handcuffs on. He then went to the Laibon, who told the Mayatta people to build him a house near Kericho, with a double place inside, where he could be without being seen by other people in the house. He lived with the Laibon, Arap Koileki, for 3 days. He gave the Laibon some of the rupess ~~that~~ were stolen. People came from the Laibon to tell us that no information was to be given, or we would be killed with wizardcraft. It is impossible to get anyone to say anything against the Laibon, even if you imprison them or harm their cattle. I only show that he (Arap Sings) went to Arap Koileki. When he went to steal he went from the house of Arap Boisio. Arap Cherero, Chief of this location, knows everything, as he is a friend of the Laibon's. We do not hear everything as they things are to talk with the Kerimli.

(2) The Laibon told the people to bring their cattle outside the Reserve towards Niania against the will of the Government. The people of Arap Cherero's are now collecting cattle to give to the Laibon, as he told them, if they did not do so, their wimbi and cattle will die, but if they say no the Europeans will leave the country. The people pay to all the Laibons continually.

(3) The other day, when Mr. Montgomery and the Mayatta were looking for stolen Masai stock in Setik, Arap Moita, (Chief) sent Kerongosi and Cheptsereng, his tribal retainers, with a white bull and a black heifer to Arap Boisio. We met the cattle on the road. If the interpreters, ~~Arap Kosok~~ ~~but~~ or ~~any~~ person hear this, they will give information. They all know about Arap Sings. When the compensation was paid for my men who were killed by Masai, the cattle (54) were left with no compensation. Arap Boisio sent word to me three times to pay him

him some of these cattle. The fourth time he summoned me myself. I went and was told to pay up, but refused. When the cattle were handed over to the recipients they paid up four, two to Arap Boisie, one to Arap Kedieke and one to Kiboygot. Their names were Arap Chaleget, Arap Kowen and Tandehai. Chief Arap Persecutor was told to pay up or the let be ~~say~~<sup>out</sup> but he refused. He does not go to the Leibon, nor does Arap Moita, nor Arap Nyarino, but Arap Mustanet, Arap Sogee and Arap Cherire go often. Arap Persecutor was told he would die if he did not pay up. Some years ago, Arap Chardre, my Chief, considered that I was too much a friend of the Government, having helped to bring back some native cattle from Emania, outside the Reserve. He reported me to the Leibon, who told him to apply to Moran and kill me. They attacked me and we had a fight, but we got the upper hand. I was very badly wounded about.

The foregoing statement was taken by me ~~as~~ dictated by Arap Terongee and corroborated by his tribal retainer, Arap Hobirro, in Terongee's country.

(2d) C. M. DOBBS,

District Commissioner,

September 25th, 1915.

Rajah Din, the Indian who went off to India so unexpectedly last month married to a Hindu woman, sister of Arap Sine, who stole Mr. Montgomery's rupees. I have been told by the Indian, Ali Mahomed, that Arap Sine was hidden in their shop at Arap Tojeji's for some days. Subsequently Rajah Din and his wife had a quarrel and he took her to Kisumu to divorce her. Soon after this he suddenly sold all his shops and belongings, and went off to India at a day's notice. We can think of no reason except that he was afraid his wife, owing to their disagreement, would tell the Government that Arap Sine had hidden in their shop.

Statement made before me on the 11th September, 1918.

(Sd) G. M. Dobbs,

District Commissioner.

Arap Kitchwen, Galu town, states:- Arap Segor and Arap Kitchwen brought us this news the other day. A long time ago, in Mr. J. B. Mungai's time, the Laibon built a big boma, and told the people to fill it with cattle and sheep. This was not done, but recently the Laibon told the people that it was because they had not paid him cattle that the Government was putting these Collective Punishments on them. In my country (Arap Kitchwen's) the people have collected about 50 goats and 4 cattle. These have not been collected together, but have been promised. When I heard about this I sent one letter to Arap Nestich, and one to Mr. Notchiria, telling them about it. A very big meeting was held the other day to settle about this. Arap Kitchwen has been going to the Laibon for some time.

Read over correct.

(Sd) G. M. Dobbs,

District Commissioner,

September 15th, 1918.

Arap Nenchee, duly sworn, states:—When I got back the 38<sup>th</sup> October day I found Arap Tense invited to pay the Laibon this steeler. I went yesterday to Arap Nenchee (Bawnee), I met Arap Baitayad and Arap Koko on the road the other day and asked them and was told that they had sold 12 goats and 5 cattle. Arap Tense paid 1 bull, Arap Baitayad 1 bull, and Koko 1 cattle. He often goes to the Laibon. They told me that on Sunday a Barnee would be held at the Iumbwa boys on the farms of Major Garapate, Mr. Gair and Mrs. Smith to settle about what was to be paid. They are not very keen about telling us because they distrust us now. Every possible opportunity the Laibon gets stock from the people. When sheep disease breaks out, he gets stock from them to stop it.

Read over correct.

(sd) " C. M. Debbs,

District Commissioner,

September 15th, 1913.

Arap Bonnehat, recalled, states:—I am son of the late Arap Bellage. The Wamee wanted to make me chief, but I refused. The Laibon killed my father, because he abused the Laibon's people for stealing cattle, and the Laibon looked at him and he died. My father told me this himself. The Laibon has killed many chiefs and Headmen:—Arap Tumbo, Arap Komo, Che-magira, Arap Bellage, Arap Nene and Arap Taru.

Read over correct.

(sd) " C. M. Debbs,

Dist. Commr. 10, S. 13.

Arap Tense's village,

15th September, 1913.

Chief Arap Tense, duly affirmed, states:—I first received news to send cattle and sheep from Arap Kitchwen and to send them to the Laibon. Headman Kithwa paid 5 cattle and 15 goats.

Read over correct before me,

(sd) " J. A. G. Miller,

396

Headman Kitchwen, duly affirmed, states:—I also get news from Arap Kitchwen to collect cattle. I was told country was contributing "mali" to the Laibon. I told my people to collect cattle and sheep. I heard that Arap Taree was refusing to collect. I was afraid of Arap Taree, so have not collected the stock at one place.

Read over correct, before me,

(Sd) J. A. G. Elliot.

Headman Arap Sonai, duly affirmed, states:—I also know of people in my country who are collecting stock. I then hid the fact as I was afraid of the anger of Arap Taree.

Read over correct, before me,

(Sd) J. A. G. Elliot.

Arap Taree,	Arap Kisho,	Arap Owene,
Arap Sonai,	Arap Matna (Askari)	Arap Tumbo
Arap Kiles	Arap Ngatich.	

The above persons were all present when the above statements were taken.

Arap Kitchwen, Chief, Lamu Reserve, duly affirmed, states:—Arap Seger brought news to my location from the Laibon that we had to pay him cattle and sheep and goats. He said our wives and cattle would die otherwise. I also heard it said that he said the Europeans would go away. We are all in fear of the Laibon and do what he tells us. Buret has also been told to pay up stock to him. We see the slaves dying and the cattle dying.

Read over correct.

(Sd) C. M. Dobbs.

Distr. Comm., 16, 9, 18

Asked if he would be willing to say this before the Laibon Arap Kitchwen answered in the negative most decidedly and said that he would certainly die if he did so.

(Sd) C. M. Dobbs.

Gandhi Central Road,

25 September, 1918.

Dear Mr. Horne,  
Mysore.

Thanks for your letter. I hope we will get the Liaison or rather, Leibson, for there are three, Arap Soilek and two more. I know it is unpleasant to be unable to trust the interpreters and Indian Retainers but I don't think you quite realise with what absolute ~~discrepancy~~ <sup>discrepancy</sup> all - Tambe and Mandi alike - regard the liaison. If I got rid of these I should get no better. I have been in correspondence with Mandton and to show you this is not merely my own opinion I quote the following from his letter:—Your old Leibson has such power that people's lives would be in danger if they give evidence against him, and I should not dare to ask my people to do it. No Leibson dare give evidence. (Underlined.) Certainly no Leibson except possibly a Mission boy would dare to give evidence against him to his face. This would probably make the evidence of no use from the legal point of view. Still I have quite a lot of evidence of sorts and hope to get more and will send it on to you with a covering letter as soon as possible. I asked the Native Agent about Arap since without mentioning Mandton's statements and he told me immediately that he had been shielded by the Leibson, and had given Rs. 500/- to the senior and Rs. 300/- to the junior. Furthermore the Leibson has just sent round word that the intention is to pay him a very large sum in cattle, goats and sheep with a view to making "dawa" to drive the hapless away. Some ~~of his~~ stock has already been collected. If you havn't looked up Grenton's Confidential Report on the subject to the Provincial Commissioner in January, please do so. I didn't believe a word of it then but this corroborates seems distinctly peculiar. It is extraordinary how these revelations have cleared up one or two mysteries already. For example, two Indian brothers, Jalal Din and Maan Din had shops at Arap Soilek's and Mekote respectively. About May some mysterious friction arose between Jalal Din and Arap Soilek's son and his people

people. I could not understand it at all. Apparently Jalal Din's wife, a Moslem woman, was married to him about two years back or May we used to meet him with George Sejeti to about 10 am & 1pm and eggs every week. We paid them for two weeks and then they stopped coming until we were on guard. We could not understand it at all and on June 21st we passed through Nebego trading centre and found that Maan Din's shop was sold. On enquiring we discovered that both brothers had sold all their possessions and departed to India at a day's notice without apparently any reason. It now transpires that Jalal Din's wife was Arap Sinee's own sister and that Arap Sinee had been harboured by them at Arap Sejeti's for some time. Jalal Din thought something might come out owing to the friction with the local natives and escaped. I don't know what form the Indian's "fine" is going to take but cannot believe for a moment that he intends to excommunicate him. But the sooner he and his brother get removed the better. There is little doubt that he forbids his natives to perform any regular work. While at home I told the head men there, who before then have 1500 men, that I wanted to hire on 25 men to work by the month in the Amritsar-Mohali section of the road. I wanted them to live in huts on the same spot as if they came from their homes every day they could go to work till 9 or 10 at night to leave at 5. Their wages were to be Rs. 5/- and night and the whole work was in their own country. I was met by a polite but black-faced man who told that the Ladhaks could not possibly do that as if they left their homes who would look after the mothers, wives and children. They do not mind coming out to work by the day for a few hours, but absolutely refuse to work by the month. I told them that I would give them Rs. 50/- for each of the 25 men unless they produced them. Rs. 1250/- has been paid and they say that even if they are fined to the last cent it will make no difference. They are quite friendly about it and were quite cheerful on how road work and bridges I want to be more determined on the point of regular work. I know what to do with Chinese workers who are weak but anxious to

more authority over the youths, but what is the use in  
talking people like this who don't want to exert their authority.  
I don't know. I propose to spend the money on buying Jenkins,  
seed, etc., for distribution to the Settlers. I believe that the  
removal of the baron would be a great relief to the Indians  
generally as he spends his whole time bleeding them.

Yours sincerely,

(Sd) C. M. DOBBS.

Saturday,  
19th September, 1913.

I, "Arap Gilmentitch," Government Interpreter at Kapshet,  
in Nandi, do affirm that I saw "Arap Sineé," escaped Lambwa  
Prisoner, close to the porter's lines in Kericho about eight  
(8) months ago.

(Sd) Arap Gilmentitch.

His mark

Taking before me,

(Sd) Noel Mondichet.

Distr. Commissioner.

September 19th, 1913.

Reply Please give  
ID. S and Date.

Kisii.

South Kano, one District.

22nd January, 1919.

The Provincial Commissioner,

Kisumu.

I have received a rather puzzling report, which may have some truth in it or may be only native rumour and nonsense. The Kisii interpreter, tell me what these rumours have reached him several times.

3. It is reported that certain Kisii of North Migirango have been taking a number of cattle to the Laibon of Isambwa who, they say will, in the future, be Wami Chiar. The reason alleged for the Kisii taking cattle to the laibon is that the latter is a big chief and medicine-man and has a powerful medicine with which he will effectively drive the Europeans out of the country. In this event North Migirango will become part of the Laibon's territory.

3. A Kisii named Kisungu of North Migirango is said to be on very friendly terms with the laibon and has already given him a number of cattle and has induced others to do the same. It is also stated that cattle stolen by the Kisii of this location from the Kavirende are at once taken to the Laibon. There may be some truth in this. On the 20th instant an attempted theft of cattle by Kisii of North Migirango from Kavirende of Kibondo was reported. The thieves got away after惊uring a native. To-day a Kisii of North Migirango was brought in having been caught last night in the attempt to steal cattle at night near Kibondo. This Kisii is of the same clan as Kisungu.

4. I am making further enquiries here, and would suggest that the District Commissioner, Kericho, be asked to investigate. If it is true that stolen cattle are being hidden with the Yabobo, what may prove to be the right explanation of any negotiations which have taken place.

I think you are aware that the Kisii of North Migirango

(107) we nearly allied to the Lambwa as many of the former lived and are still living among the Lambwa.

5. I have heard from time to time that Ngwane is afraid to take any action against Mosh or his people who are guilty of any offence, as they threaten to kill him after the Europeans have been driven out.

I have not paid much attention to these stories; as such fear of being killed when the Europeans leave the country is not unknown among native tribes here ruled by Government.

(108) D. R. CHAMPTON,

District Commissioner.

C.R.C. 15/2

Kericho.

E. Cecil Moore Dobbs, District Commissioner, Kericho,  
duly sworn, state as follows:-

I took charge of this District in June, 1911, before  
being stationed in Kisumu and South Kavirondo. While  
in those two Districts, numerous cattle thefts attributed  
to the Lumbwa came before my notice, and in every case in  
which the complainants were sent to report to the Laibon,  
they invariably would have said that he gave them absolutely  
no assistance in finding their stock. I found the  
same thing when I came here. The Laibon, Mr. Nallard, and  
his wife and nine-year-old son, Arap Nallard, spoke a lower African  
dialect, and reacted with absolute terror to any English  
word. Officers and Indians, as well as the ordinary natives,  
in spite of the enormous influence that possessed, they have  
never assisted me in a single instance in my administrative  
work; in more than one occasion, Mr. Nallard has been seen  
in the drunk when I held a barter by his place. The natives who  
complained that their cattle had been stolen and traced  
into the Laibon's own location, when brought to the Laibon,  
found him drinking with the old men, and were unable to get  
any assistance from him. The man particularly mentioned  
the most kickshaw in the whole District, and about 80 head  
of cattle stolen from Europeans, Indians and natives were  
found in his location in March and April last, having been  
hidden there several months. Of the twenty or so stock  
thieves arrested not a single one was caught with the help  
of the Laibon, his elders, or Tribal Retainers, nor was a  
single head of cattle recovered by their assistance. I  
have frequently met bands of Moran carrying skin bags full  
of skins prepared for the manufacture of tembo, and on en-  
quiry elicited the fact that they were keeping it as an  
offering to the Laibon. Amurisio, the second Laibon

(4)

is almost as dangerous man to an Arap Koileki. He has  
butts all over the Districts and acts as trap-holes  
outside agent, bringing him news of everything that goes  
on. This year the Nat Counter was refused assistance by  
Arap Koileki when counting his location. Though instructed  
by me, in consequence of the complaints of the Nat Counter,  
to provide a tribal retainer to go round with him, he failed  
to do so, and could give no valid excuse for this failure.  
The natives have told me that Chiefs and Beadmen who have  
shown themselves energetic in assisting Government, or  
friendly to Government, have been killed by his witchcraft,  
and they have actually given me the names of these men who  
have died. There is not the smallest doubt that the na-  
tives believe absolutely that these men were killed because  
they were not as subservient to the Talbon as he would  
wish. The fact of the enormous influence he possesses  
owing to his supposed capacity to kill by witchcraft, and  
to stop rain, or bring cattle disease, coupled with his  
absolute failure to use this power in the interest of  
Government in the slightest degree, is conclusive proof to  
my mind of his hostility to Government. Even the most  
enlightened natives whom I have questioned about the Talbon  
have shown the greatest fear in giving me any information  
in public, lest they should be overheard by anyone who  
would bring word to the Talbon. The result of this, they  
positively assure me, would result in their being killed  
by witchcraft.

In July, 1911, four thiefs from the Talbon's location  
stole cattle from Kayirondo (Nyakach District). The Kav-  
irondos caught one man at night, and brought him to Kisumu.  
I was informed and sent for Arap Koileki (Talbon) who ar-  
rived here about 5 or 8 days after the theft. I told  
him I wanted the other three thieves, and that the man who  
had been arrested in Kisumu had given their names, and so  
that the sooner they were brought in the better.

399

matter of fact, I knew except that the ~~sayirandu~~ said there were four men, and they had only arrested one. The Laibon sent off some Moran from the office, and next morning three men were produced who pleaded guilty to the theft. The Laibon knew who those three men were, but although he was paramount Chief of the District, and responsible for the arrest of criminals, etc., he did not arrest them until he had been in to the Station to see how much I actually knew. Further the cattle stolen in this case were never produced.

The three laibons or medicine-men - Aran Korieki, Aran Sisik and Kiboygot, are absolute fail to all my efforts at stopping stock thieving, or bringing about an improvement in the general condition of the District and the inhabitants, and until the former two at any rate, and probably the whole three, are removed, I can do little or nothing.

In June, 1911, I held a very large barasa here on the occasion of the Coronation of King George V. All Chiefs and Elders were given ample notice, and every single one was present, even from the furthest corner of Botik, with the single exception of the Laibon himself, the paramount Chief of the whole District, who only arrived the next day. His house is a distance of 18 miles from here, whereas some Chiefs came to my barasa from a distance of 60 miles on that occasion.

Recently a collective fine was imposed on the Laibon's location. He was instructed to collect it and asked for a month in which to do it. At the end of that time five inferior cattle were collected and I had to detail an officer to round up 80 head of mixed stock to satisfy the fine. With the power he undoubtedly possesses the Laibon could have paid up at once.

(Sd) C. H. Dobbs

I have read over carefully and sworn before me.

(Sd) J. A. G. Elliot  
Magistrate and Clerk.

Mr. J. J. Boishikira, Lambwa Industrial Mission, Kericho, duly affixed states:- I have been working in this district for eight years now. During practically all this time I have known that three Leibons have exercised great authority over the Limbas people. About two years ago reports began to come to me through some of our native boys whose training at the Mission had broken their superstitions fear of the Leibons that he (Arap Koiloki) and his associates were exercising their power in a way detrimental to the best interests of the tribe. The first reports showed his arbitrary power in that he levied taxes still on the natives. For instance if he took a fast of certain cattle he simply ordered the native to give them to him. Even if a man had only one cow he would take it without the owner being able to raise any protest. It has also been reported to me that he has levied a tax of money on the Reserve. These taxes are collected without difficulty because of direct threats by him now that if the tribute was not paid he would not rid of them by windbreaks. It is also reported that he has frequently done away with people who opposed him. It has frequently been reported to me that the Leibon has told the natives that the white public were allowed to come here merely by his sufferance and that when he wished they would have to go. About two months ago it came to my knowledge that the Leibon had sent word to the various Sengens to the effect that if they had driven the white man to leave the country he would see that is was done in great collector and brought in to ~~him~~ a thousand head of cattle and 2000 goats and sheep. I instructed my informants to be quiet about the matter and to watch developments with a view to finding out if possible when and where the ~~sheep~~ would be assembled. Up to the present time a certain number of cattle have been found actually collected. It has also been reported to me that when the Government has sold these



#### **THE ELDORADO CONFIRMATION**

"(sq)" a "square

1948 SEP 26 - 1948 OF ORIGINAL TATE'S  
NOTATION WITH BLOOM

(24) d° 2<sup>o</sup> doppia

HOOT, PAGE 1000 EAGLE IN-OUTLINE

(20) *METHODS AND APPROXIMATIONS*

LOWE'S 1-800-877-3744 hours:

След това се засяга във въпроса за използването на блокади  
през този период и във въпроса за постигането на посреднически  
и промеждни цели със започване от това да има  
все по-значителни погрешки между политическите линии на  
двете страни и да има неизбежни такива, които да пред-  
ставят опасност за мирното разрешаване на конфликта.  
Всичко това е възможно чрез постепенно и логично  
разрешаване на конфликта.

CONFIDENTIAL

REF ID: A1812

Visitors to the island

SL 11.2.10 0000 100 - TOT P. on commercial

To the visitors to the island of  
Seychelles, a total of 9000 passengers  
are expected to visit the island. The  
visitors are expected to be mostly  
from the United States and Canada.  
The visitors will be staying at the  
various hotels and guest houses  
available on the island. The  
visitors will be arriving from  
various parts of the world and  
will be staying for varying periods  
of time. The visitors will be  
arriving by air, sea, and land.  
The visitors will be staying at  
the various hotels and guest houses  
available on the island. The  
visitors will be arriving from  
various parts of the world and  
will be staying for varying periods  
of time. The visitors will be  
arriving by air, sea, and land.

The visitors will be staying at  
the various hotels and guest houses  
available on the island. The  
visitors will be arriving from  
various parts of the world and  
will be staying for varying periods  
of time. The visitors will be  
arriving by air, sea, and land.

modest act to demonstrate that you have brought  
the capital issue up again at some inconvenient time  
because of the circumstances of the  
concrete case before the Senate, and now it  
will be important to review all the bills which

will fall under your jurisdiction.  
Attention is drawn to the following bill which  
has received the stamp of the Senate and is  
now awaiting your action: S. 1000, relating  
to the transfer of the construction work of the  
new Library of Congress and proposed  
new Library of Congress building, to the  
Senate, and concerning the same; and  
S. 1001, relating to the construction work of the  
new Library of Congress and proposed  
new Library of Congress building, to the  
Senate, and concerning the same.

Both of these bills will require your attention if you  
will do justice to the Senate. The first bill  
proposes to transfer the construction work of the  
new Library of Congress and proposed  
new Library of Congress building, to the  
Senate, and concerning the same; and  
the second bill proposes to do the same thing  
with respect to the new Library of Congress  
and proposed new Library of Congress building,  
and concerning the same. Both of these bills  
will require your attention if you will do justice  
to the Senate. The first bill proposes to transfer  
the construction work of the new Library of Congress  
and proposed new Library of Congress building,  
to the Senate, and concerning the same; and  
the second bill proposes to do the same thing  
with respect to the new Library of Congress  
and proposed new Library of Congress building,  
and concerning the same.

On the 1st of June 1863 the 1st Regt. of the 1st N.Y. Inf. was sent to New York City to take part in the grand review of the Armies of the Potomac and the James River. The 1st Regt. of the 1st N.Y. Inf. was the first regiment to march into the city and the last to leave it. The 1st Regt. of the 1st N.Y. Inf. was the first regiment to march into the city and the last to leave it.

1905-1906

ISRI - 2000